September 2, 2020
Via E-mail
Re:

Discriminatory Dress and Grooming Provisions

Dear Superintendent:
We write to inform you that your school district’s dress and grooming code appears to
contain provisions that were recently declared unconstitutional by a federal court in Texas. We
ask that you revise your dress code to ensure that it conforms to federal law and does not contain
any restrictions that discriminate against students based on sex, race, or religion.
On August 17, 2020, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Texas
determined that a public school grooming code requiring male, but not female, students to wear
short hair is unconstitutional while granting a preliminary injunction to enjoin the district’s
policy. In De’Andre Arnold v. Barbers Hill Independent School District, the court found that
gender-specific grooming codes violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The court applied heightened scrutiny to this genderspecific dress code and found that the district did not provide a sufficiently persuasive or
important justification for imposing a hair-length requirement on male, but not female, students.1
The court also determined that the district’s decision to discipline a Black male student for
wearing locs2 likely constitutes race discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause.
Your school district’s dress and grooming code appears to contain a hair-length
requirement that applies only to male but not female students and is similar to the one the court
struck down in Barbers Hill. As discussed below, this grooming restriction treats students
differently on the basis of sex and is unconstitutional. This type of provision also leads to bias
and discrimination against students on the basis of race and religion, and it conflicts with recent
guidance updated this August by the Texas Association of School Boards (TASB), which
cautions districts against imposing gender-specific grooming codes.3
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No. 4:20-CV-1802, 2020 WL 4805038 (S.D. Tex. Aug. 17, 2020) (Exhibit 1).
Locs are ropelike strands of hair that form naturally and/or are styled in afro-textured hair. Locs have been
traced to just about every civilization in history, starting in 2500 B.C. However, locs are directly related to the
culture of members of the African diaspora. This letter uses the term “locs” instead of “dreadlocks” because of the
negative and derogatory implications of the word “dread.” See Letter from ACLU of Florida and NAACP Legal
Defense Fund, p. 2 (Nov. 29, 2018) available at, https://www.aclu.org/legal-document/clinton-stanley-v-bookschristian-academy-complaint
3
See Student Dress and Appearance, TASB (August 2020), at 4-5, https://www.tasb.org/services/legalservices/tasb-school-law-esource/students/documents/student_dress_and_appearance.aspx (urging “district
leadership [to] collaborate thoughtfully with parents from diverse backgrounds in setting grooming standards” and
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In this moment, as students and families in your district face unprecedented challenges, it
is imperative that you do not add to their concerns by enforcing policies that discriminate on the
basis of sex, race, or religion. We ask you to reexamine your district’s dress and grooming code
to ensure that it complies with federal law and is free from sex stereotypes and other
discriminatory language.
Legal Concerns
The Constitution protects students from discrimination on the basis of sex, race, and
religion, as well as other protected characteristics. Like many school districts across the state,
Barbers Hill ISD in Mont Belvieu, Texas, which was the subject of the above-mentioned law
suit, imposed a hair-length requirement on male, but not female, students.4 The district made
national headlines this January when it told De’Andre Arnold that he would not be allowed to
walk at graduation if he did not cut his locs.5 The district also enforced this gender-specific
grooming policy against De’Andre’s cousin, Kaden Bradford, who also wears locs and sought a
preliminary injunction to allow him to return to school without being forced to cut his natural
Black hair.6 Two weeks ago, a federal court declared Barbers Hill ISD’s dress and grooming
code to be unconstitutional under the heightened scrutiny test that is now required by the U.S.
Supreme Court for every sex classification imposed by a government entity.
When the government treats people differently based on sex, it must provide an
“exceedingly persuasive justification” for this differential treatment that is “substantially related
to an important government objective.”7 The Supreme Court has uniformly applied heightened
scrutiny to every gender-based classification that it has considered “in recognition of the real
danger that government policies that professedly are based on reasonable considerations in fact
may be reflective of ‘archaic and overbroad’ generalizations about gender.”8
Although sex stereotypes and overbroad generalizations based on gender may be
“descriptive . . . of the way many people still order their lives,” the Supreme Court has
consistently “reject[ed] measures that classify unnecessarily and overbroadly by gender when
stating that “[i]n light of the evolving law, districts may want to consider having a dress code that does not make
distinctions based on gender”) (Exhibit 2).
4
Barbers Hill ISD’s Student Handbook states that “Male students’ hair will not extend, at any time, below
the eyebrows or below the ear lobes. Male students’ hair must not extend below the top of a t-shirt collar or be
gathered or worn in a style that would allow the hair to extend below the top of a t-shirt collar, below the eyebrows,
or below the ear lobes when let down.” Student Handbook. Barbers Hill ISD, at 53,
https://resources.finalsite.net/images/v1597847392/bhisd/t2sqybxrmulol1osx5kv/Handbook-BHISD2020-21.pdf
5
Leah Asmelash, If this Texas student doesn't cut his dreadlocks, he won't get to walk at graduation. It's
another example of hair discrimination, some say, CNN (Jan. 24, 2020),
https://www.cnn.com/2020/01/23/us/barbers-hill-isd-dreadlocks-deandre-arnold-trnd/index.html; Johnny Diaz and
Jacey Fortin, Student Suspended Over Dreadlocks Is Invited to the Oscars, N.Y. Times (Feb. 1, 2020),
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/02/01/us/DeAndre-Arnold-dreadlocks.html
6
The ACLU of Texas represented Kaden during the school district grievance process. See Barbers Hill ISD
School Board Denies Grievances on Discriminatory Grooming Policies, ACLU of Texas (July 21, 2020),
https://www.aclutx.org/en/press-releases/barbers-hill-isd-school-board-denies-grievances-discriminatory-groomingpolicies
7
J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B., 511 U.S. 127, 135 (1994)
8
Id. (citing Reed v. Reed, 404 U.S. 71 (1971)).
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more accurate and impartial lines can be drawn.”9 It is especially telling that the Supreme Court
has applied this same heightened scrutiny to every government sex classification it has
considered, without making any exception for the context of the military or public schools.10
In applying the heightened scrutiny required by the Supreme Court, the federal court in
De’Andre Arnold rejected old precedent from the Texas Supreme Court and Fifth Circuit Court
of Appeals that gave school districts greater deference in imposing gender-specific dress and
grooming codes.11 Two cases from the Texas Supreme Court, on which some districts in the state
still rely, support the proposition that “Hair-length regulations that apply to boys but not to girls
do not manifest such an affront to students’ constitutional rights to merit judicial intervention.”12
But as state court decisions focused only on state law, neither of these cases applies to challenges
based on federal law.13 This line of cases was also significantly undermined this June when the
U.S. Supreme Court issued a landmark decision on sex discrimination under Title VII.
In Bostock v. Clayton County, Georgia, the Supreme Court affirmed that all individuals,
including those who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender (LGBT), have a right to be free
from sex discrimination in the workplace.14 Prior to this ruling, there was a line of Title VII cases
in which gender-based classifications were considered permissible as long as they imposed
“comparable burdens” or “equal burdens” on men and women. The Supreme Court has now
clearly rejected this framework.15
Bostock’s holding marks a dramatic shift in the context of employment discrimination,
and it also applies to schools subject to Title IX, which bars discrimination “on the basis of sex”
9

Sessions v. Morales-Santana, 137 S. Ct. 1678, 1686 (2017).
See, e.g., United States v. Virginia, 518 U.S. 515, 533 (1996).
11
Barbers Hill ISD tried to argue that its dress and grooming code was constitutional in light of Karr v.
Schmidt, 460 F.2d 609 (5th Cir. 1972), but the court concluded that Karr “does not address sex discrimination” and
does not incorporate modern Supreme Court precedent that clearly requires heightened scrutiny. Opinion at 10-11
(“Karr simply does not bar K.B.’s claims.”).
12
See, e.g., FNCA (Legal), Bullard ISD (July 1, 2002),
https://pol.tasb.org/Policy/Download/1078?filename=FNCA(LEGAL).pdf
13
In Barber v. Colorado Independent School District, the Texas Supreme Court found that a hair-length
requirement for male, but not female, students was permissible under the Texas Constitution. 901 S.W.2d 447, 451
(Tex. 1995). Two years later, in Board of Trustees of Bastrop Independent School District v. Toungate, the Texas
Supreme Court applied this same ruling to conclude that gender-based hair length restrictions do not violate the nondiscrimination requirements of Texas Civil Practices & Remedies Code § 106.001(a). 958 S.W.2d 365, 371 (Tex.
1997). The court relied heavily on cases related to Title VII, the federal employment nondiscrimination law, which
previously sanctioned the imposition of gender-specific dress and grooming codes, but has now been called into
question by Bostock.
14
140 S. Ct. 1731 (2020).
15
In cases like Jespersen v. Harrah's Operating Co., courts decided that “[g]rooming standards that
appropriately differentiate between the genders are not facially discriminatory” unless they “place[] a greater burden
on one gender than the other.” Jespersen v. Harrah's Operating Co., 444 F.3d 1104, 1109–10 (9th Cir. 2006) (en
banc). In other words, as long as employers treated groups of male and female employees equally, then certain
gender-specific grooming requirements did not run afoul of Title VII.
But in Bostock, the Court held that that private employers “discriminate” against someone “because of sex”
when an employer “intentionally treats a person worse because of sex.” 140 S. Ct. at 1740. For purposes of Title
VII, it does not matter whether an employer’s policies disadvantage an entire group of male or female employees. If
a single employee is treated differently in part because of sex—and suffers an adverse employment action as a
result—then that employee may now state a claim for sex discrimination.
10
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for any “person” in an education program or activity receiving federal financial assistance.16
Under Bostock’s logic, students who are adversely affected by gender-specific grooming codes
may state a claim for sex discrimination, even if school district policies impose “comparable
burdens” on entire groups of male and female students.
Yet even prior to Bostock, at least one federal court of appeals had already applied Title
IX to invalidate a gender-specific grooming policy. In Hayden ex rel. A.H. v. Greensburg
Community School Corporation, the Seventh Circuit held that a hair length requirement applying
only to male but not female athletes at schools in Greensburg, Indiana, was illegal sex
discrimination under Title IX.17 And other federal courts have found that imposing different
dress and grooming codes on the basis of sex also violates the Equal Protection Clause.18
It is now clear that the Texas Supreme Court cases relied on by certain school districts to
impose gender-specific dress and grooming codes are no longer good law. Under modern
precedent from the U.S. Supreme Court, school districts may only impose a gender-specific dress
and grooming code if they have an “exceedingly persuasive justification” for treating students
differently based on sex. Currently, many districts state in their FNCA (Local) policies that dress
and grooming codes are designed to teach grooming and hygiene, instill discipline, prevent
disruption, avoid safety hazards, and teach respect for authority. Yet each of these fails to
provide a rationale for treating male and female students differently—since each of these
motivations applies with the same force to every student. If female students can wear long hair
without jeopardizing their health, hygiene, safety, discipline, or respect for authority, then male
students can too. This is the exact conclusion that the federal court reached in enjoining the
grooming code at issue in De’Andre Arnold,19 and it is the same result that your district could
face if sued in federal court.
TASB recently revised its dress and grooming code guidance in August of 2020 to
comply with federal law. TASB’s revised policies encourage Texas school districts to
“collaborate thoughtfully with parents from diverse backgrounds in setting grooming standards”
and warn that “[i]n light of the evolving law, districts may want to consider having a dress code
that does not make distinctions based on gender.”20
By eliminating your school’s gender-specific dress and grooming code provisions, you
will be following federal law while protecting your district’s students from discrimination.

16

Title IX states “No person ... shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the
benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving Federal financial
assistance.” 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a).
17
743 F.3d 569, 583 (7th Cir. 2014).
18
See, e.g., Sturgis v. Copiah County School District, No. 3:10-CV-455-DPJ-FKB, 2011 WL 4351355, at *1
(S.D. Miss. Sept. 15, 2011) (requiring boys to wear tuxedos and girls to wear drapes violated the Equal Protection
Clause); Bonnie Peltier, et al. v. Charter Day School, Inc., et al., No. 7:16-CV-30-H, Dkt. 216 at *31 (E.D.N.C.
Mar. 28, 2019) (requiring girls to wear skirts was an impermissible sex classification based on outdated stereotypes).
19
2020 WL 4805038, at *9.
20
See supra note 3 (Exhibit 2).
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The Harms of Imposing Discriminatory Dress and Grooming Codes
In addition to being unconstitutional and unlawful, gender-specific dress and grooming
codes are harmful to your district’s students. Imposing sex-specific hair requirements is tied to
racial and religious discrimination, since people of various faiths and ethnic backgrounds
sometimes wear longer hair. For example, male students who are Jewish, Sikh, or Rastafarian
may be unable to cut their hair due to religious reasons. Two male students who are Catholic
recently sued a school district in South Texas and won after the district tried to suspend them for
wearing long hair as a promise to God.21
Gender-specific hair length requirements also have a disparate impact on students who
are Native American, since wearing long hair is sometimes an important part of their religious,
cultural and/or spiritual identity. In 2014, a kindergarten student in West Texas who wore long
hair as part of his Native American ancestry was suspended from school and told that he would
be forced to cut his hair.22 In 2010, the ACLU of Texas won a lawsuit establishing that Native
American students may wear long hair in public school for religious reasons,23 yet male Native
American students across the state still occasionally face challenges in vindicating this right.24
Similarly, students of color sometimes wear longer hair as part of their ethnic heritage,
and the harmful effects of gender-specific dress and grooming codes fall hardest on students who
are Black. In October 2018, a Black male student in Greenwood, Texas, was told by school
administrators that he might not be allowed to play football if he did not cut his cornrows.25 In
January 2019, a six-year-old Black student in Hewitt, Texas was sent home from school and
forced to cut his locs because they touched his ears and collar.26 And in October 2019, a school
district in Tatum, Texas expelled two young Black male students because they wore natural
Black hair that extended past their ears and collar.27 The ACLU of Texas sent the district a letter

21
Court approves religious accommodation for Texas students with long hair, Catholic News Agency (Sept.
9, 2019), https://www.catholicnewsagency.com/news/court-approves-religious-accommodation-for-texas-studentswith-long-hair-77628
22
Dan Solomon, The Navajo Kindergartener from West Texas who Was Sent Home on His First Day of
School for Long Hair Is Back in Class, Texas Monthly (Sept. 3, 2014), https://www.texasmonthly.com/the-dailypost/the-navajo-kindergartener-from-west-texas-who-was-sent-home-on-his-first-day-of-school-for-long-hair-isback-in-class/
23
See A.A. ex rel. Betenbaugh v. Needville Indep. Sch. Dist., 611 F.3d 248, 253 (5th Cir. 2010).
24
The ACLU of Texas has received numerous intakes from Native American students across the state who
have found it difficult to exercise their right to wear long hair when their school district mandates that all male
students wear short hair. In some circumstances, school administrators have tried to require Native American
students to “prove” their ethnic heritage or tribal affiliation—which is not required by federal law—and students
who wear long hair as part of their religion or heritage also feel ostracized from their peers.
25
Gianni Windahl, Proposed Greenwood ISD grooming code sparks controversy, CBS 7 (Oct. 12, 2018),
https://www.cbs7.com/content/news/Greenwood-ISD-grooming-code--497134531.html
26
Erin Donnelly, Mom says elementary school is demanding that her first-grader cut his dreadlocks: ‘I won’t
conform to racist policies,’ Yahoo Lifestyle (Jan. 9, 2019), https://www.yahoo.com/lifestyle/mom-says-elementaryschool-demanding-first-grader-cut-dreadlocks-wont-conform-racist-policies-120109868.html
27
Kristen Barton, Mother, grandmother's grievances denied by Tatum ISD; lawsuit planned, Longview
News-Journal (Oct. 21, 2019), https://www.news-journal.com/news/local/mother-grandmothers-grievances-deniedby-tatum-isd-lawsuit-planned/article_93405944-f440-11e9-a5b9-931db1958a4f.html

5

explaining why Tatum ISD’s actions were unlawful.28 The district eventually changed its dress
and grooming code this summer,29 but only after two young Black male students were already
denied educational opportunities.
The United States has a long history of using physical and cultural traits, like hair texture
and hairstyle, as a proxy for discrimination against Black people. These policies actively devalue
Black students by preventing them from fully presenting themselves with natural and protective
hairstyles like cornrows, locs, and braids. By enforcing policies that operate as a ban on natural
Black hair, schools send a negative message to Black students that natural hair is not
“professional enough” or “up to standards.” In order to protect Black students, dress and
grooming policies must recognize that prohibiting certain hairstyles is a proxy for racial
discrimination.30
These examples comprise only a handful of ways that gender-specific dress and
grooming codes harm Texas students each year.31 Although your school district may not intend
to discriminate against students in all of these ways, it has enacted policies that compel students
to conform to gender and racial stereotypes about grooming and appearance, which has harmful
and discriminatory effects based on sex, race, and religion.
Conclusion
You are in a unique position to help eliminate these harms, since your district looks to
your guidance in developing its dress and grooming code. By reexamining and revising your
dress and grooming code to remove all stereotypes based on race and sex, your district will abide
by federal law while also becoming a more affirming and supportive environment for every
student in your district. If your district eliminates these gender-based restrictions from its
policies, it will be able to avoid the discriminatory effects caused by gender-specific dress and
grooming codes and also will avoid being subject to the expensive costs of grievances or
litigation pertaining to unconstitutional policies that cause students harm.

28

ACLU Letter to Tatum ISD School Board, Longview News-Journal (Oct. 21, 2019), https://www.newsjournal.com/aclu-letter-to-tatum-isd-school-board/pdf_00501b38-f41d-11e9-9a5e-d3e499516e2e.html.
29
See Dress and Grooming, Tatum ISD (June 15, 2020),
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1kpqUFK42wPfOMiidnt7_ivvLr9HafqJP/view
30
According to New York City’s Human Rights Commission, “Bans or restrictions on natural hair or
hairstyles associated with Black people are often rooted in white standards of appearance and perpetuate racist
stereotypes that Black hairstyles are unprofessional. Such policies exacerbate anti-Black bias in employment, at
school, while playing sports, and in other areas of daily living.” Legal Enforcement Guidance on Race
Discrimination on the Basis of Hair, NYC Human Rights Commission (February 2019),
https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/cchr/downloads/pdf/Hair-Guidance.pdf
31
Gender-specific dress and grooming requirements also harm lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and
questioning (LGBTQ) students, since not all students fit within the gender binary or conform to gender stereotypes.
And gender-specific hair length requirements also harm students who cannot afford frequent haircuts. For example,
in February 2019, a teacher in Hico, Texas, gave a student a choppy, uneven haircut during the school day because
his family did not have money to get his haircut. This student was humiliated and embarrassed and did not know
why he was forced to wear short hair while his female peers were allowed to wear long hair. See Lindsay Lowe,
Texas mom outraged after teacher cut her son’s hair for dress code violation, Today.com (Feb. 28, 2019),
https://www.today.com/style/texas-mom-outraged-after-teacher-cut-her-son-s-hair-t149597
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We welcome any opportunity to discuss this matter further or answer any questions.
Thank you for your time and attention to this matter.
Sincerely,

Brian Klosterboer
Skadden Fellow and Attorney
ACLU of Texas
PO Box 8306
Houston, Texas 77288
bklosterboer@aclutx.org

Julia Montiel
Field Investigator and Paralegal
ACLU of Texas
PO Box 8306
Houston, Texas 77288
jmontiel@aclutx.org
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Exhibit 1

Case 4:20-cv-01802 Document 98 Filed on 08/17/20 in TXSD Page 1 of 31
United States District Court
Southern District of Texas

ENTERED
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION
EVERETT DE’ANDRE ARNOLD, et al,
Plaintiffs,
VS.
BARBERS HILL INDEPENDENT
SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al,
Defendants.

August 17, 2020
David J. Bradley, Clerk

§
§
§
§ CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:20-CV-1802
§
§
§
§
§

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
Pending before the Court is a motion for a preliminary injunction filed by Plaintiff
K.B. The Court held an evidentiary hearing on the motion over the three days spanning
July 22, 2020 through July 24, 2020. (Dkt. 77–Dkt. 79) After careful consideration of the
parties’ written submissions, the extensive evidentiary record developed at the hearing,
and the other filings in the case, K.B.’s motion (Dkt. 44) is GRANTED.
I.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

K.B. is preparing to enter his junior year of high school and has enrolled at
Barbers Hill High School in the Barbers Hill Independent School District (“BHISD”).
BHISD has an excellent reputation in the Texas educational community and Barbers Hill
High School is the home of the award-winning Soaring Eagle Marching Band. K.B. has
attended BHISD schools since the first grade, excepting part of his sophomore year of
high school, when the events giving rise to this lawsuit forced him to transfer from
Barbers Hill High School to Sterling High School in the Goose Creek Consolidated
Independent School District. (Dkt. 44-4 at pp. 3, 7) K.B. has testified that, while he was
1 / 31
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enrolled at Sterling High School, he missed Barbers Hill High School, where he was an
A/B student and played trombone in the marching band, and wished to return to complete
his education there. (Dkt. 44-4 at pp. 7–8)
The dispute that forced K.B.’s transfer to Sterling and ultimately led to this lawsuit
revolves around K.B.’s hair. K.B. is African-American and wears his hair in locs1
“because it is part of [his] Black culture and heritage” and because he wants to emulate
“[his] loved ones, including extended family members with West Indian roots, [who]
have locs.” (Dkt. 44-4 at p. 3) K.B. formed his natural hair into locs in the seventh grade
and has not cut them since. (Dkt. 44-4 at p. 3; Transcript of preliminary injunction
hearing, day one, pages 56–57) K.B. testified that “[l]ocs are meant to grow long” and
that “[y]ou don’t cut locs” because “they would unravel,” undoing “all the hair process
and growth” that the wearer spends years cultivating. (Dkt. 44-4 at p. 7; Transcript of
preliminary injunction hearing, day one, pages 56–57)
Professor D. Wendy Greene, who testified as an expert for K.B., supported K.B.’s
testimony with persuasive historical and sociological evidence showing that “hair texture,
like one’s skin color, has long served as a racial marker.” (Dkt. 44-2 at p. 11) Professor
Greene testified that locs are a long-recognized expression both of African-American
identity and West Indian identity. (Dkt. 44-2 at pp. 4–8) According to Professor Greene,
“K.B.’s claim that his natural hairstyle is an expression of his racial identity is routinely

A common term for “locs” is “dreadlocks.” However, Professor D. Wendy Greene, who
testified as an expert for K.B., pointed out that the term “dreadlocks” has its origins in slave
traders’ describing slaves’ unattended hair as “dreadful” when those slaves emerged from slave
ships after spending months at sea during the Middle Passage. (Dkt. 44-2 at p. 4)
1
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asserted by African Americans today and is entirely consistent with African descendants’
culture that has been widely understood in America since the era of slavery.” (Dkt. 44-2
at p. 4) Professor Greene also clarified that “[l]ocs are a symbol of reverence to West
Indian ancestors” and that, furthermore, “West Indian cultural traditions prohibit cutting
or trimming of locs.” (Dkt. 44-2 at p. 6)
When K.B. began his freshman year at Barbers Hill High School, BHISD had a
hair-length policy, applicable only to male students, mandating that:
[b]oys’ hair will not extend, at any time, below the eyebrows, below the ear
lobes, or below the top of a t-shirt collar. Corn rows and/or dread locks are
permitted if they meet the aforementioned lengths.
Dkt. 44-4 at p. 3.
To comply with this hair-length requirement without having to cut his locs, K.B.
wore a “thin headband and t[ied his] locs up and back, so they did not extend past [his]
earlobes, neck, or eyebrows.” (Dkt. 44-4 at p. 3) K.B. testified that his hair was
scrutinized frequently and extensively by BHISD officials when he was a freshman.
During that school year, Barbers Hill High School Assistant Principal Ryan Rodriguez
“removed [K.B.] from class at least once per week to ensure [his] locs complied with the
hair policy.” (Dkt. 44-4 at p. 4) K.B. testified that the intrusive monitoring continued into
the fall semester of his sophomore year, when he “was regularly called out of class” so
that school administrators could gauge his compliance with the hair-length policy. (Dkt.
44-4 at p. 4) K.B. “received verbal warnings . . . regarding [his] hair length” but was
allowed to return to class because he “always complied with the hair policy.” (Transcript
of preliminary injunction hearing, day one, pages 60–62; Dkt. 44-4 at p. 4)

3 / 31
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But then BHISD changed its hair-length policy midway through K.B.’s sophomore
year, in December of 2019. The new policy—still applicable only to male students—
mandated that:
[m]ale students’ hair will not extend, at any time, below the eyebrows, or
below the ear lobes. Male students’ hair must not extend below the top of a
t-shirt collar or be gathered or worn in a style that would allow the hair to
extend below the top of a t-shirt collar, below the eyebrows, or below the
ear lobes when let down.
Dkt. 44-8 at p. 56.
The addition of the “when let down” language prevented K.B. from complying
with the hair-length policy by tying his locs up and required K.B. to cut his locs to avoid
punishment. K.B. did not cut his locs, and was punished with in-school suspension,
which he described as being “what [he would] imagine prison to be like.” (Transcript of
preliminary injunction hearing, day one, pages 65–69) While in in-school suspension,
students were completely isolated; they were not allowed to leave the room, talk to any
other students, or participate in extracurricular activities. (Dkt. 44-4 at pp. 6–7; Transcript
of preliminary injunction hearing, day one, pages 65–69) Students in in-school
suspension did not receive instruction from certified teachers and “had to figure out
[their] schoolwork and homework on [their] own.” (Dkt. 44-4 at p. 7) Eventually, K.B.
transferred to Sterling High School to finish out his sophomore year so that he could
receive an education and continue to grow his locs without suffering further punishment.
(Dkt. 44-4 at p. 7)
BHISD defends the mid-year hair policy change that resulted in K.B.’s transfer by
asserting that it has a “legally acceptable right to still have gender-specific hair
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expectations” and to prevent students from “circumventing” them. (Transcript of
preliminary injunction hearing, day two, pages 555–58) Dr. Greg Poole (“Dr. Poole”), the
Superintendent of BHISD, testified that the addition of the “when let down” language to
the hair-length policy was needed to give “clarity that circumventing and manipulating
the dress code policy is not permitted.” (Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day
two, page 531) Dr. Poole also used the term “circumvent” when asked specifically about
K.B.’s method of complying with the previous iteration of the hair-length policy by tying
his locs up, saying of K.B., “He’s a great kid. I know that. But my impression he’s
circumventing the process to get by the dress code.” (Transcript of preliminary injunction
hearing, day two, page 554) Pressed on the meaning of these statements, Dr. Poole
explained that he and the BHISD Board of Trustees aim to make BHISD’s students
“clean-cut” and “presentable.” (Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day two,
pages 555–58) Yet Dr. Poole also conceded that K.B. looked “clean-cut” and “very
presentable” with his locs tied up. (Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day two,
page 556) Pressed further, Dr. Poole ultimately simply asserted that, to his knowledge,
BHISD “ha[s] a legal right to have gender-specific hair dress expectations.” (Transcript
of preliminary injunction hearing, day two, page 558)
K.B. and his co-plaintiffs2 subsequently filed this suit against BHISD, alleging the
following causes of action: (1) intentional race discrimination under the Fourteenth
Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause; (2) intentional race discrimination under Title VI

K.B.’s lawsuit is brought on his behalf by his mother, Cindy Bradford. K.B.’s co-plaintiffs are
his cousin, De’Andre Arnold, and De’Andre’s mother, Sandy Arnold.
2
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of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; (3) sex discrimination under the Fourteenth
Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause; (4) sex discrimination under Title IX; (5)
violation of his First Amendment right to free speech; (6) retaliation in violation of the
First Amendment; (7) retaliation in violation of Title VI; (8) retaliation in violation of
Title IX; (9) intentional race discrimination in violation of Section 106.001 of the Texas
Civil Practice and Remedies Code; and (10) sex discrimination in violation of Section
106.001 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code. (Dkt. 1 at pp. 29–49) In the
complaint, K.B. and his co-plaintiffs ask the Court to, among other things, enjoin BHISD
from enforcing its hair-length policy against K.B.; enjoin BHISD and the other
defendants in this case from making disparaging comments about K.B. to anyone; and
enjoin BHISD and the other defendants in this case from retaliating against K.B. for
refusing to cut his locs. (Dkt. 1 at pp. 49–50; Dkt. 44 at pp. 40–41)
“Irrespective of race, creed, and gender, education makes it possible for people to
stand out as equal with all the other persons from different walks of life.” Anon. BHISD
classes begin in two days on August 19, 2020. On that day, when K.B. arrives to attend
his first class, he will be isolated from his classmates, placed in in-school suspension for
violation of BHISD’s hair policy, and remain there until the end of the school year. In the
pending motion K.B. seeks to enjoin BHISD from denying him the opportunity to attend
class and receive the same education, without fear of punishment or retaliation, as his
classmates until a final judgment has been entered regarding his claims in this case. For
the reasons stated in detail below, the motion for a preliminary injunction is granted.
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II.

THE LEGAL STANDARD

The purpose of a preliminary injunction is to preserve the status quo and prevent
irreparable harm until the respective rights of the parties can be ascertained during a trial
on the merits. City of Dallas v. Delta Air Lines, Inc., 847 F.3d 279, 285 (5th Cir. 2017).
In the Fifth Circuit, the following well-established framework generally governs the
determination of whether to grant a preliminary injunction:
To be entitled to a preliminary injunction, the movant must satisfy each of
the following equitable factors: (1) a substantial likelihood of success on
the merits; (2) a substantial threat of irreparable injury; (3) the threatened
injury to the movant outweighs the threatened harm to the party sought to
be enjoined; and (4) granting the injunctive relief will not disserve the
public interest. Because a preliminary injunction is an extraordinary
remedy, it should not be granted unless the movant has clearly carried the
burden of persuasion on all four requirements. Failure to sufficiently
establish any one of the four factors requires this Court to deny the
movant’s request for a preliminary injunction.
Id.
In presiding over a preliminary injunction hearing, a district court may “give even
inadmissible evidence some weight when it is thought advisable to do so in order to serve
the primary purpose of preventing irreparable harm before a trial can be held[.]” Federal
Savings & Loan Insurance Corp. v. Dixon, 835 F.2d 554, 558 (5th Cir. 1987) (quoting 11
C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure § 2949 at 471). In particular,
“[a]ffidavits and other hearsay materials are often received in preliminary injunction
proceedings. The dispositive question is not their classification as hearsay but whether,
weighing all the attendant factors, including the need for expedition, this type of evidence
was appropriate given the character and objectives of the injunctive proceeding.” Dixon,
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835 F.2d at 558 (quoting Asseo v. Pan American Grain Co., Inc., 805 F.2d 23, 26 (1st
Cir. 1986)).
III.

ANALYSIS

K.B. has carried his burden of persuasion on all four of the required elements.
a. Substantial likelihood of success on the merits
“To show a likelihood of success, the plaintiff must present a prima facie case, but
need not prove that he is entitled to summary judgment.” Daniels Health Sciences, L.L.C.
v. Vascular Health Sciences, L.L.C., 710 F.3d 579, 582 (5th Cir. 2013). “To assess the
likelihood of success on the merits, [courts] look to standards provided by the substantive
law.” Janvey v. Alguire, 647 F.3d 585, 596 (5th Cir. 2011) (quotation marks omitted).
When the plaintiff has brought multiple causes of action, he need only present a prima
facie case on one of them. Kalsi Engineering, Inc. v. Davidson, No. 4:14-CV-1405, 2014
WL 12540550, at *2 & n.2 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 2, 2014); Texas v. U.S., 95 F. Supp. 3d 965,
981 (N.D. Tex. 2015); see also Butler v. Alabama Judicial Inquiry Commission, 111 F.
Supp. 2d 1224, 1230 (N.D. Ala. 2000) (“Under the first requirement for obtaining a
temporary restraining order, the court does not have to find that Plaintiffs have a
substantial likelihood of success on every claim set forth in their Complaint.”). K.B. has
clearly shown a substantial likelihood of success on the merits of at least one claim.
1. Sex discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause
K.B. has asserted a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for sex discrimination
in violation of the Equal Protection Clause (Dkt. 1 at p. 36), and he has clearly shown a
substantial likelihood of success on the merits on that cause of action. “To state a claim
8 / 31
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under §1983, a plaintiff must (1) allege a violation of rights secured by the Constitution
or laws of the United States and (2) demonstrate that the alleged deprivation was
committed by a person acting under color of state law.” Piotrowski v. City of Houston, 51
F.3d 512, 515 (5th Cir. 1995). The parties do not dispute that K.B. may use Section 1983
to vindicate his rights under the Equal Protection Clause, nor is there any dispute that the
“color of state law” requirement is met. Such disputes would be fruitless. See, e.g.,
Arceneaux v. Assumption Parish School Board, 733 Fed. App’x 175, 177 (5th Cir. 2018)
(noting that student’s claim against principal and school board for sex discrimination
under the Equal Protection Clause “is actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983”).
The parties are in further agreement that the challenged hair-length policy applies
only to male students and was explicitly intended to create a gender-based distinction; in
its own papers, BHISD acknowledges that one “express distinction made in the dress
code is between male and female students: girls may wear their hair long, boys may not.”
(Dkt. 12 at p. 12) The parties diverge, however, on the question of whether this Court
should apply the Supreme Court’s demanding intermediate-scrutiny standard in
evaluating the Constitutionality of the challenged hair-length policy. The Supreme Court
has described the intermediate-scrutiny standard in the following way:
To summarize the Court’s current directions for cases of official
classification based on gender: Focusing on the differential treatment for
denial of opportunity for which relief is sought, the reviewing court must
determine whether the proffered justification is exceedingly persuasive. The
burden of justification is demanding and it rests entirely on the State. The
State must show at least that the challenged classification serves important
governmental objectives and that the discriminatory means employed are
substantially related to the achievement of those objectives. The
justification must be genuine, not hypothesized or invented post hoc in
9 / 31
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response to litigation. And it must not rely on overbroad generalizations
about the different talents, capacities, or preferences of males and females.
U.S. v. Virginia, 518 U.S. 515, 532–33 (1996) (quotation marks, brackets,
and citations omitted).
The Supreme Court has further clarified that “the classification must substantially
serve an important governmental interest today, for in interpreting the equal protection
guarantee, we have recognized that new insights and societal understandings can reveal
unjustified inequality that once passed unnoticed and unchallenged.” Sessions v. MoralesSantana, 137 S.Ct. 1678, 1690 (2017) (quotation marks, brackets, and ellipsis omitted;
emphasis in original). The Supreme Court’s “case law evolving since 1971 reveals a
strong presumption that gender classifications are invalid.” Virginia, 518 U.S. at 532
(quotation marks and brackets omitted) (citing Justice Kennedy’s concurrence in J.E.B. v.
Alabama ex rel T.B., 511 U.S. 127, 152 (1994)). The Supreme Court recently reiterated
that this “heightened scrutiny . . . attends all gender-based classifications.” MoralesSantana, 137 S.Ct. at 1689 (quotation marks omitted).
In its early filings, BHISD did not contest the applicability of the intermediatescrutiny standard and admitted that, “because it makes distinctions based on sex,
[BHISD’s] dress code is subject to intermediate scrutiny.” (Dkt. 12 at p. 12) However
now, relying on the holding in Karr v. Schmidt, 460 F.2d 609 (5th Cir. 1972), BHISD
argues that “binding precedent precludes the Court from applying that standard.” (Dkt. 57
at p. 31) BHISD argues that this case requires the Court to apply a rational-basis review
to its hair-length policy. Even assuming that a half-century-old opinion “precludes” the
use of a standard that the Supreme Court said just three years ago is applicable to all
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gender-based classifications, Karr does not address sex discrimination; to the contrary, it
explicitly distinguishes a Seventh Circuit case, Crews v. Cloncs, 432 F.2d 1259, 1266
(7th Cir. 1970), that does discuss sex discrimination. The relevant passage of Karr states
that:
[t]he Equal Protection clause has not generally been relied upon as a basis
for invalidating hair-length regulations with the exception of a Seventh
Circuit case [Crews] which held that hair regulations are violative of the
Equal Protection clause because they apply solely to male students and not
to female students. In this case, however, the theory of the district court is
that, as between male students, any classification based upon hair length
contravenes the Equal Protection guarantee.
Karr, 460 F.2d at 616 (footnote omitted) (emphasis added).
Karr did not discuss the questions presented by K.B.—let alone resolve them
adversely to K.B.—because the Karr Court was not presented with those questions. It is
materially distinguishable from this case. In any event, it predates the Supreme Court
precedent the application of which it purportedly precludes. See Virginia, 518 U.S. at 558
(Rehnquist, C.J., concurring) (noting that the Supreme Court has applied the
intermediate-scrutiny standard to classifications by sex since 1976, when it issued Craig
v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 197 (1976)). Karr simply does not bar K.B.’s claims.
Next, relying on the Supreme Court’s plurality opinion in Parham v. Hughes, 441
U.S. 347, 351 (1979), BHISD argues that K.B. must prove “invidious discrimination [a]s
a threshold inquiry” before intermediate scrutiny applies. (Dkt. 89 at p. 6) The Court
finds this argument unmeritorious. The opinion does not create a threshold burden for
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K.B. of proving “invidious discrimination;” only three other justices joined that opinion,3
and the more recently decided cases of J.E.B., Virginia, and Morales-Santana neither cite
Parham nor mention such a threshold inquiry. Accordingly, the Court will apply the
intermediate-scrutiny standard articulated in J.E.B., Virginia, and Morales-Santana.
Under this standard BHISD has the “demanding” burden of presenting an
“exceedingly persuasive” justification for the hair-length policy, meaning that the hairlength policy must “at least” be “substantially related to the achievement” of “important
governmental objectives[.]” Virginia, 518 U.S. at 532–33 (quotation marks omitted).4
Here, the evidence does not meet this burden.
Under the Supreme Court’s intermediate-scrutiny standard, K.B. has clearly
shown a substantial likelihood of success on the merits on his cause of action for sex
discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause. In its briefing, BHISD proffers

The concurring and dissenting Justices in Parham all simply cited and applied intermediatescrutiny cases. See Parham v. Hughes, 441 U.S. 347, 359 (1979) (Powell, J., concurring) (citing
Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 197 (1976)); see also id. at 362 (White, J., dissenting, joined by
Brennan, Marshall, and Blackmun, JJ.) (citing Caban v. Mohammed, 441 U.S. 380, 388 (1979),
which quoted Craig). In his concurring opinion, Justice Powell specifically clarified that he
“arrive[d] at this conclusion by a route somewhat different from that taken by Mr. Justice
Stewart.” Id. at 359 (Powell, J. concurring).
4
BHISD argues that K.B. should not prevail because “K.B. has not shown that BHISD will not
be able to demonstrate that its hair length regulation is substantially related to important
governmental objectives” (Dkt. 57 at p. 37). This statement flips the burden of justification,
which, according to the Supreme Court, “rests entirely on the State.” U.S. v. Virginia, 518 U.S.
515, 533 (1996). Additionally, since “[t]he justification must be genuine, not hypothesized or
invented post hoc in response to litigation[,]” Id., BHISD is bound by the justifications that
actually led it to create the hair-length policy and may not craft justifications during the course of
this litigation just to stymie K.B. See Janvey v. Alguire, 647 F.3d 585, 596 (5th Cir. 2011) (“To
assess the likelihood of success on the merits, [courts] look to standards provided by the
substantive law.”) (quotation marks omitted). K.B. is not required now, and will not be required
later, to defeat proffered justifications that had nothing to do with the formulation of the policy,
much less to defeat every conceivable justification for it. Virginia, 518 U.S. at 533.
3
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as justifications for its hair-length policy that the policy helps to “maintain a standard of
excellence[;]” “maintain . . . an atmosphere conducive to learning[;]” “[p]repar[e]
students for success in college, the military, and the workplace[;]” and “promot[e]
educational goals.” (Dkt. 12 at p. 12; Dkt. 57 at p. 37) BHISD’s website states that “[t]he
District’s dress code is established to teach grooming and hygiene, prevent disruption,
avoid safety hazards, and teach respect for authority.” (Dkt. 61 at bates number 16) But at
the hearing on K.B.’s motion, BHISD administrators could not articulate facts
establishing any discernible relationship between the hair-length policy—particularly the
most recently enacted iteration of the policy, which regulates the length of male students’
hair “when let down”—and the stated justifications for the dress code. Rather, Barbers
Hill High School Principal Rick Kana testified that a male Native American Barbers Hill
High School student was granted an exemption from the hair-length policy with no
apparent effect on BHISD’s educational goals:
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Q:

Did allowing the Native American student to come to school with
uncut hair interfere with your ability to cultivate a disciplined culture
within your high school?

A:

No.

Q:

Did allowing the Native American student to come to school with
uncut hair negatively affect the safety of the school?

A:

Not that I’m aware of.

Q:

Did allowing the Native American student to come to school with
uncut hair affect his or any other student’s ability to academically
achieve?

A:

I don’t think I can answer that question, because I can’t speak on
behalf of all students in that case.
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...
Q:

Did allowing a Native American student to come to school with
uncut hair affect teachers’ ability to teach hygiene?

A:

I don’t know if I can answer that for the teachers. I did want to say
one thing on it. That when it first happened, it took a lot of—there
were a lot of questions by students wondering why does this student
get to have it, and we had to be very careful in how we answered
that. But it did—it did disrupt for a while until students were used to
it.

Q:

And once students became used to seeing one of their school mates
with uncut hair, did it continue to be a disruption to have a Native
American student with uncut hair at your school?

A:
No.
Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day two, pages 306–07.
Principal Kana testified that the exemption granted to the male Native American
student was the only exemption to the hair-length policy that he had granted in his eight
years as Principal. (Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day two, page 305)
BHISD Career & Technical Education Instructor Kirven Tillis seconded Principal
Kana’s testimony regarding the male Native American student and conceded that a male
student could wear uncut locs let down without interfering with BHISD’s goals:
Q:

You testified yesterday that Native Americans having uncut hair was
not problematic because the rest of the student population
understood that it was for religious reasons, correct?

A:

Correct.

Q:

Would that not be also true for an individual who was wearing

A:

As I said, potentially, yes.

locks?
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Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day three, page 751; see also
transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day two, page 683.
Moreover, Principal Kana, when questioned specifically about the connection
between the hair-length policy and BHISD’s educational goals, provided no support for
such a connection and at times denied one:
Q:

In your opinion, does the length of a male student’s hair or, you
know, whether it’s all below the eyebrows, the earlobes, or the shirt
collar, have anything to do with the male student’s hygiene?

A:

No.

...
Q:

Does the length of a male student’s hair have anything to do with
whether they can display discipline?5 Besides self-control.

A:

No.

Q:

Does the length of a male student’s hair have anything to do with
their likelihood of success at school and after they graduate from
high school?

A:

I can’t really determine that. I can’t really determine any of the
questions. I don’t know.

Q:

In your opinion, does the length of a male student’s hair have
anything to do with whether they can achieve academically?

A:
I’m not sure.
Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day one, pages 209–10.

At this point, defense counsel objected, saying, “Objection. ‘Discipline?’” The basis of the
objection was not clear, and the questioning continued without defense counsel securing a ruling
or further pressing the issue.
5
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Dr. Poole, during a similar line of questioning, was unable to identify any peerreviewed research linking the hair-length policy to BHISD’s educational goals:
Q:

Superintendent Poole, are you aware of any peer-reviewed research
that shows that limiting the length of a boy’s hair fosters excellence?

A:

I am aware of research that indicates dress code and high
expectations and standards, but, no, I’m not aware of that specific
thing that you asked.

Q:

And, Superintendent Poole, are you aware of any peer-reviewed
research that shows that limiting the length of a boy’s hair instills
discipline?

A:

No.

Q:

And are you aware of any peer-reviewed research that shows that
limiting the length of a boy’s hair teaches hygiene?

A:

No.

Q:

Are you aware of any peer-reviewed research that shows that
limiting the length of a boy’s hair teaches respect for authority?

A:

No.

Q:

And are you aware of any peer-reviewed research that shows that
limiting the length of a boy’s hair fosters academic achievement?

A:
No. ma’am.
Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day two, pages 562–63.
The present iteration of the hair-length policy, which regulates the length of male
students’ hair “when let down,” seems particularly unmoored from any of BHISD’s
stated objectives. Before the current policy was enacted, K.B. was able to comply with
the BHISD hair-length code by tying his locs so that they did not exceed the maximum
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length. Principal Kana was unable to explain how K.B.’s tying his locs up created any
sort of problem for K.B., BHISD, or K.B.’s fellow students:
Q:

And had he cut his locks by the start of the fall 2019 school year?

A:

Not that I was aware of, no, ma’am.

Q:

So he had long—he had uncut locks at this time, but he was
attending his regular classes?

A:

Yes, ma’am.

Q:

And he was—and he was participating in band?

A:

Yes, ma’am.

Q:

During that time, did KB’s uncut locks prevent teachers from
fostering academic excellence in their students?

A:

I can’t answer that.

Q:

At that time, did KB’s uncut locks prevent teachers from
maintaining high standards for their students?

A:

I can’t answer for those teachers.

Q:

Did KB’s uncut locks cause a disruption?

A:

I can’t answer that. Not that I was aware of. I can answer that, yes, I
can. Not that I was aware of.

...
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Q:

Would KB’s uncut locks, or did KB’s uncut locks cause a safety
threat to anyone?

A:

Can’t answer that.

Q:

Did KB’s uncut locks threaten or hurt anyone in any way?

A:

I have no idea.
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Q:

Would KB’s uncut locks hurt anyone if he was allowed to return to
school without cutting them in the fall of 2020?

A:

Would they harm anyone?

Q:

Yes. Would they harm anyone if he were to return to school into his
regular classes and to band without cutting them, in the fall of 2020
semester?

A:

What do you mean by “harm?”

Q:

Would they hurt anyone in any way?

A:
Not that I would be aware of, no.
Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day one, pages 188–90.
Notably, during closing arguments, BHISD’s counsel admitted that the hair-length
policy “seem[s] arbitrary” but contended that it still meets the requisite Constitutional
standard because it is part of a proven “formula” that must be unquestioningly accepted:
They got something special going on here, and it’s good. And to create, to
tamper with their formula because you don’t understand every jot and tittle
of how the formula works, and say, “I don’t understand what length has to
do with it.” It’s like parenting. Children don’t have to understand
everything the parent does, but the parent has that exclusive authority to
make some rules that seem arbitrary, but are supported by rational
experience.
Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day three, page 991.
The lack of a persuasive justification for the hair-length policy establishes a
substantial likelihood that K.B. will prevail on his cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983
for sex discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause.
2.

Race discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause

Next, K.B. has asserted a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for race
discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause. (Dkt. 1 at p. 29) Based on the
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evidence discussed above and additional evidence discussed below, he has clearly shown
a substantial likelihood of success on the merits on that cause of action. Although it
makes an explicit distinction based on gender, the BHISD hair-length policy does not
make explicit distinctions based on race. The Court will accordingly apply the Supreme
Court’s Arlington Heights analysis to evaluate K.B.’s likelihood of succeeding on the
merits of his cause of action for race discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection
Clause.
K.B.’s race-discrimination claim under the Equal Protection Clause requires him
to provide proof of a racially discriminatory intent or purpose. Village of Arlington
Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 265 (1977).
“However, racial discrimination need only be one purpose, and not even a primary
purpose, of an official action for a violation to occur.” Veasey v. Abbott, 830 F.3d 216,
230 (5th Cir. 2016) (quotation marks and brackets omitted); see also Arlington Heights,
429 U.S. at 266 n.14 (“A single invidiously discriminatory governmental act . . . would
not necessarily be immunized by the absence of such discrimination in the making of
other comparable decisions.”). “In Arlington Heights, the Supreme Court set out five
nonexhaustive factors to determine whether a particular decision was made with a
discriminatory purpose, and courts must perform a sensitive inquiry into such
circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available.” Id. at 230–31
(quotation marks and footnotes omitted). The Arlington Heights Court wrote that:
[t]he historical background of the decision is one evidentiary source,
particularly if it reveals a series of official actions taken for invidious
purposes. The specific sequence of events leading up to the challenged
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decision also may shed some light on the decisionmaker’s purposes. For
example, if the property involved here always had been zoned R-5 but
suddenly was changed to R-3 when the town learned of MHDC’s plans to
erect integrated housing, we would have a far different case. Departures
from the normal procedural sequence also might afford evidence that
improper purposes are playing a role. Substantive departures too may be
relevant, particularly if the factors usually considered important by the
decisionmaker strongly favor a decision contrary to the one reached.
The legislative or administrative history may be highly relevant, especially
where there are contemporary statements by members of the
decisionmaking body, minutes of its meetings, or reports.
...
The foregoing summary identifies, without purporting to be exhaustive,
subjects of proper inquiry in determining whether racially discriminatory
intent existed.
Arlington Heights, 429 U.S. at 267–68 (citations and footnotes omitted).
K.B. bears the burden “to show that racial discrimination was a substantial or
motivating factor” behind the creation of the hair-length policy. Veasey, 830 F.3d at 231
(quotation marks omitted). If K.B. meets that burden, the burden shifts to BHISD “to
demonstrate that the [policy] would have been enacted without this factor.” Id. (quotation
marks omitted). This Court has observed that a plaintiff relying on the Arlington Heights
analysis to demonstrate discriminatory intent through direct or circumstantial evidence
“need provide very little such evidence” to raise a genuine issue of material fact and that
“any indication of discriminatory motive” may suffice to raise a jury question. Rollerson
v. Port Freeport, No. 3:18-CV-235, 2019 WL 4394584, at *6 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 13, 2019),
adopted, 2019 WL 6053410 (S.D. Tex. Nov. 15, 2019) (quotation marks omitted;
emphasis in Rollerson).
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Although the hair-length policy is facially race-neutral, K.B. has presented
sufficient statistical and testimonial evidence that could establish, under the Arlington
Heights analysis, that BHISD’s hair-length policy—particularly the most recent iteration
of that policy—was enacted with a racially discriminatory motive. First, K.B. has
presented statistical evidence showing that, both before and after the most recent iteration
of the hair-length policy was enacted, BHISD disproportionately enforced its hair-length
policy against African-American students. K.B.’s attorneys have examined BHISD
disciplinary records, which are contained in the evidentiary record at bates numbers 116
to 365 of docket entry 61, and calculated that, during K.B.’s sophomore year, AfricanAmerican students at Barbers Hill High School were three times more likely than their
white classmates to lose at least one day of instruction to hair-related in-school
suspension. (Dkt. 92 at p. 1) According to those same calculations, African-American
students at Barbers Hill High School who were placed in in-school suspension during
K.B.’s sophomore year lost an average of 3.5 days of instruction; white students who
were placed in in-school suspension lost an average of one day of instruction. (Dkt. 92 at
p. 1) In other words, there is credible statistical evidence in the record showing that
African-American students were more likely than white students to be punished, and to
be punished harshly, on account of the hair-length policy.6

This morning the parties submitted further briefing and evidence regarding the background of
the numbers provided by BHISD and used for K.B.’s statistical calculations. While BHISD
provided argument and evidence that these calculations may not paint a clear view of the
policy’s effects, the Court finds that there is sufficient evidence at this stage of the litigation to
find that these calculations are credible and relevant to the Court’s adjudication of the pending
motion.
6
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The statistics compiled from BHISD’s disciplinary records reflect the experiences
described by K.B. and his cousin and co-plaintiff, De’Andre Arnold (“De’Andre”),7 in
their testimony. Both K.B. and De’Andre have testified that they were singled out by
school officials for near-constant scrutiny, and were often pulled out of class, because of
their locs during their time at Barbers Hill High School, even though they complied with
the hair-length policy by tying their locs up before BHISD made compliance in that
manner impossible in December of 2019. (Dkt. 44-4; Dkt. 44-7) K.B. testified that he did
not see anyone other than himself and De’Andre subjected to such scrutiny, and
De’Andre testified that he saw white male students whose hair violated the hair-length
policy but who were not pulled out of class. (Dkt. 44-4 at p. 4; Dkt. 44-7 at p. 7)
One particularly illustrative example of the alleged disparity in scrutiny between
K.B. and De’Andre and their white classmates is a striking intersection between the
statistics compiled from BHISD’s disciplinary records and the events that caused K.B.
and De’Andre to transfer to Sterling High School. In December 2019, BHISD amended
its hair-length policy to bar male students from wearing any hairstyle that would allow
the hair to extend below the top of a t-shirt collar, below the eyebrows, or below the ear
lobes “when let down.” (Dkt. 44-8 at p. 56) In his testimony, Dr. Poole justified the
addition of the “when let down” language to the hair-length policy by claiming that the
change was needed to give “clarity that circumventing and manipulating the dress code
policy is not permitted.” (Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day two, page
De’Andre was a senior during the 2019-20 school year. Like K.B., he transferred to Sterling
High School, from which he graduated, so that he could continue receiving an education without
cutting his locs. (Dkt. 44-7 at p. 9)
7
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531) K.B. and De’Andre testified that their hair was again subject to intense scrutiny
when the change was made: when school started on January 7, 2020 after Winter Break,
they were told they would be sent to in-school suspension because of their locs. (Dkt. 444 at p. 6; Dkt. 44-7 at p. 9) However, after De’Andre gave an interview about the hairlength policy to a local news show on January 17, 2020, the number of disciplinary
actions against other students increased to an apparently unprecedented level. (Dkt. 92 at
pp. 2–3) K.B.’s analysis of the BHISD disciplinary statistics indicates that Barbers Hill
High School personnel issued 91 hair-policy disciplinary referrals in the nine school days
after De’Andre’s interview, which was more hair-policy disciplinary referrals than they
had issued in each of the three prior full school years. (Dkt. 92 at p. 3)8 During the 201920 school year, African-American students comprised only 3.94% of students at Barbers
Hill High School and 3.82% of students in BHISD overall. (Dkt. 61 at bates number 115)
This evidence would support a conclusion that numerous white male students had
continued “circumventing and manipulating” the hair-length policy after the December
2019 amendment but had only been punished after De’Andre highlighted BHISD’s
alleged unconstitutional conduct and generated unfavorable media coverage for BHISD.
The process by which the hair-length policy was amended in December 2019 also
supports K.B.’s claim. The December 2019 amendment to the hair-length policy was the
culmination of a string of increasingly more restrictive recent amendments. De’Andre,
who was two years ahead of K.B. and spent three and a half years at Barbers Hill High

In the 2018-19 school year, there were 66 hair-policy-related disciplinary referrals. In the 201718 school year, there were 43. In the 2016-17 school year, there were 36 (Dkt. 92 at p. 7).
8
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School, testified that the hair-length policy was amended several times during his time at
Barbers Hill High School, and it appears that each amendment was intended to be more
restrictive than the last. (Dkt. 44-7 at pp. 5, 7) BHISD changed the hair-length policy
before De’Andre’s sophomore year so that male students were no longer allowed to use
hair accessories, such as the headbands that De’Andre had been using, to tie their hair up,
and before De’Andre’s junior year BHISD changed its policy again to prohibit male
students’ hair from extending below the maximum length “at any time.” (Dkt. 44-7 at p.
5)
The December 2019 amendment stands out not only for being the most restrictive
iteration of the policy but also because of the procedure by which it was enacted. As Dr.
Poole and Principal Kana both conceded, the hair-length policy is typically revised before
the school year begins, not in December, which is in the middle of the school year.
(Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day one, page 169, and day two, pages
569–70) Principal Kana could not recall seeing a mid-school-year revision of the hairlength policy in his eight years as principal, while Dr. Poole thought that he had seen
such a revision in his 15 years as superintendent but could not be certain. (Transcript of
preliminary injunction hearing, day one, page 169, and day two, pages 569–70)9
Moreover, there is evidence that the BHISD Board imposed restrictions on
citizens’ ability to put items on the agenda at the meeting at which the December 2019

BHISD officials testified that they understood the timing of the policy change was due to the
conclusion of a Department of Justice investigation into the BHISD hair policy. However, there
was no evidence provided that either the timing of the changes or the policy’s new language was
required because of the investigation.
9
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revision to the hair-length policy was enacted. Sandy Arnold, De’Andre’s mother,
testified that she attempted to add public comment regarding the proposed hair policy as
an agenda item for the December 2019 Board meeting. (Dkt. 44-5 at pp. 8–9) Ms. Arnold
was told that she had to complete the required steps a month in advance of the Board
meeting, but the BHISD Board’s written policies state that the deadline is seven days in
advance of the meeting. (Dkt. 44-5 at p. 9; Dkt. 44-16 at p. 2)
This evidence in the record of selective enforcement, procedural irregularities, and
increasingly restrictive amendments, coupled with the lack of a persuasive justification
for the hair-length policy, establishes a substantial likelihood that K.B. will satisfy the
Arlington Heights analysis and prevail on his cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for
race discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause.
3. First Amendment right to free speech
Finally, K.B. has asserted a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violation
of his right to free speech under the First Amendment (Dkt. 1 at p. 40), and he has clearly
shown a substantial likelihood of success on the merits on that cause of action. As a
threshold matter, the Court agrees with K.B., based on K.B.’s testimony and Professor
Greene’s testimony, that K.B.’s locs are sufficiently communicative to warrant First
Amendment protection. “Visibly wearing one’s hair in a particular manner is capable of
communicating one’s religion or heritage.” Gonzales v. Mathis Independent School
District, No. 2:18-CV-43, 2018 WL 6804595, at *7 (S.D. Tex. Dec. 27, 2018); see also
A.A. ex rel. Betenbaugh v. Needville Independent School District, 701 F. Supp. 2d 863,
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882 (S.D. Tex. 2009) (“A.A.’s braids convey a particularized message of his Native
American heritage and religion.”).
When examining content-neutral restrictions on expressive activities, the Court
must determine whether: (1) the restriction is within the Constitutional power of the
government; (2) the restriction furthers an important or substantial governmental interest;
(3) the government’s important or substantial interest is unrelated to the suppression of
student expression; and (4) the incidental restrictions on First Amendment activities are
no more than is necessary to facilitate the government’s important or substantial interest.
Littlefield v. Forney Independent School District, 268 F.3d 275, 286 (5th Cir. 2001).
There is scant evidence in the record tying the hair-length policy to any important or
substantial government interest. Even if such an interest can be shown, the incidental
restrictions on K.B.’s expressive conduct go far beyond what is necessary to facilitate
that interest because the current iteration of the hair-length policy necessarily regulates
the length of K.B.’s hair when he is not at school. Cf. id. at 287 (holding that a school
uniform policy did not place an unconstitutional burden on First Amendment activities
because the policy only governed student attire during school hours).
The lack of a persuasive justification for the hair-length policy, coupled with the
overinclusive nature of the December 2019 amendment, establishes a substantial
likelihood that K.B. will prevail on his cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for
violation of his right to free speech under the First Amendment.
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K.B. has clearly shown a substantial likelihood of success on the merits of at least
one claim. He has accordingly satisfied the first of the four equitable factors required to
obtain preliminary injunctive relief.
b. Threat of irreparable injury
K.B. has clearly shown a substantial threat of irreparable injury. “To show
irreparable injury if threatened action is not enjoined, it is not necessary to demonstrate
that harm is inevitable and irreparable. The plaintiff need show only a significant threat
of injury from the impending action, that the injury is imminent, and that money damages
would not fully repair the harm.” Humana, Inc. v. Avram A. Jacobson, M.D., P.A., 804
F.2d 1390, 1394 (5th Cir. 1986) (footnotes omitted). “It has repeatedly been recognized
by the federal courts at all levels that violation of constitutional rights constitutes
irreparable harm as a matter of law[,]” Cohen v. Coahoma County, Mississippi, 805 F.
Supp. 398, 406 (N.D. Miss. 1992) (collecting cases), and that principle includes violation
of rights under the Equal Protection Clause. Killebrew v. City of Greenwood, Mississippi,
988 F. Supp. 1014, 1016 (N.D. Miss. 1997). In the educational context, courts have also
found a substantial threat of irreparable harm when students have shown that they will be
placed in in-house detention and as a result “given inferior instruction[.]” Alabama and
Coushatta Tribes of Texas v. Trustees of Big Sandy Independent School District, 817 F.
Supp. 1319, 1336–37 (E.D. Tex. 1993).
K.B. has presented ample evidence demonstrating a substantial threat of
irreparable injury. For one, he has shown a substantial likelihood that his rights under the
Equal Protection Clause and the First Amendment will be violated if his motion for a
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preliminary injunction is not granted. Furthermore, if K.B. returns to Barbers Hill High
School for the 2020-21 school year without cutting his locs, he will be either forced to do
his schoolwork at home or punished with in-school suspension, which is exactly what
happened to him when he did not cut his locs during the 2019-20 school year. K.B.
described the experience during the hearing on his motion:
Q:

And did you return to school or to campus the following day for inclass instruction?

A:

No, I didn’t.

Q:

And why not?

A:

Because I would be put into in school suspension if I were to return
to the high school.

Q:

So how did you receive continued instruction if you didn’t report to
class?

A:

My mother went to the high school, and she picked up all of my
homework and brought it to me, and I completed it to my best
abilities.

Q:

And did the homework that you received have accompanying
instructions?

A:

It had little to none explanations of what the new lesson was.

Q:

And were you able to keep up with the instruction that was
happening in class?

A:

No, I was not.

...
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Okay. And what happened when you returned to school?
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A:

When I returned to school, I had been sent to ISS, in-school
suspension.

Q:

And can you explain for us what your in-school suspension
experience was like?

A:

My experience in ISS, the first word I can think of was it was a
horrible experience. It’s almost what I’d imagine prison to be like to
take a social kid like myself who enjoys being around friends and,
you know, talk with people and to isolate them from the rest of my
peers.
ISS is you’re in a separate classroom from everyone else, you’re
secluded from even the other students in ISS. You have your back
facing toward the ISS teacher, and they even take your backpack
away from you and they put it in a small cubby. There’s no leaving
the room for anything, there’s no participating in any
extracurriculars at all, there’s absolutely no talking at all. And
there’s no going to any teacher’s classrooms with any help or
questions. You’re in the classroom from the beginning of the day to
end of the day. And it was a really hard and tough experience for
me.
...

Q:

And so, how was the instruction you received while in ISS? Can you
just elaborate on that a little bit more? Was it akin to or similar to
regular in-class instructions?

A:

It wasn’t like regular in-class instruction. I received little to none. It
wasn’t like my teachers could be the class they were teaching and
come teach me a lesson as well.

...
Q:
A:

And what were your grades like from this period of working from
home and working at ISS? What happened to your grades?

My grades had dropped dramatically. I was getting to—my grades
were lowering. I wasn’t getting that same in-class experience that I
was supposed to be getting.
Transcript of preliminary injunction hearing, day one, pages 65–69.
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K.B. has clearly shown a substantial threat of irreparable injury. He has
accordingly satisfied the second of the four equitable factors required to obtain
preliminary injunctive relief.
c. Relative weight of threatened harm
K.B. has clearly shown that the threat of harm he faces if his motion for a
preliminary injunction is denied outweighs the threat of harm faced by BHISD if K.B.’s
motion for a preliminary injunction is granted. Again, K.B. has shown a substantial
likelihood that his rights under the Equal Protection Clause and the First Amendment will
be violated if his motion for a preliminary injunction is denied, and he has additionally
shown that he will receive either inferior instruction or no instruction if his motion is
denied. On the other hand, there is no evidence that BHISD will suffer any harm if K.B.’s
motion is granted: Principal Kana and Kirven Tillis testified that, when a male Native
American high school student was given an exemption from the BHISD hair-length
policy, there was no apparent effect on the school or its students. Kirven Tillis also
conceded that a male student could wear uncut locs let down without interfering with
BHISD’s goals.
K.B. has satisfied the third of the four equitable factors required to obtain
preliminary injunctive relief.
d. The public interest
Finally, K.B. has clearly shown that granting his motion for a preliminary
injunction will not disserve the public interest. K.B. has shown a substantial likelihood
that his rights under the Equal Protection Clause and the First Amendment will be
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violated if his motion for a preliminary injunction is denied. “It is always in the public
interest to prevent the violation of a party’s constitutional rights.” Jackson Women’s
Health Organization v. Currier, 760 F.3d 448, 458 n.9 (5th Cir. 2014) (quotation marks
and brackets omitted). Conversely, “[p]ublic interest is never served by a state’s
depriving an individual of a constitutional right.” Kite v. Marshall, 454 F. Supp. 1347,
1351 (S.D. Tex. 1978).
IV.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, for all the reasons stated above, K.B.’s motion for a preliminary
injunction (Dkt. 44) is GRANTED.
SIGNED at Houston, Texas, this 17th day of August, 2020.
___________________________________
GEORGE C. HANKS, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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Exhibit 2

Student Dress and Appearance
Published online in TASB School Law eSource

The First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution protects free speech, which may include a
student’s expression through dress and appearance. The First Amendment also protects a
citizen’s right to exercise religious freedom, which could take the form of certain dress,
accessories, and hairstyles. Students in public schools have First Amendment freedoms for both
free speech and religious conduct, but these rights are not the same as adults’ rights and they
are not without limits. Schools can prohibit unprotected expression and can generally regulate
for hygiene, safety, and to prevent material and substantial disruptions to school operations.
1.

What type of expression does the First Amendment protect?
Pure speech: When student expression is political, religious, or states an opinion
through spoken or written words, it is considered pure speech and is protected
expression under the First Amendment. Sometimes students express pure speech when
they wear t-shirts or buttons that bear slogans advocating a certain point of view, such
as “Vote Republican,” “Black Lives Matter,” or “Not My President.”
Expressive conduct: Expressive conduct and symbolic speech may also be protected
expression under the First Amendment. Some examples include wearing a cross, a peace
sign, or a confederate flag belt buckle. Expressive conduct and symbolic speech are
protected by the First Amendment if the person who displays the symbol or engages in
the conduct intends to convey a particularized message and there is a great likelihood
that the message will be understood by those observing it. Spence v. Washington, 418
U.S. 405 (1974).
Non-expressive conduct is conduct that does not express a message to a reasonable viewer
or listener. For example, students sometimes claim that they are expressing themselves
through a certain haircut or manner of dress. If the clothing or grooming that the district
seeks to prevent is neither pure speech nor expressive conduct, then it is not protected by
the First Amendment. For example, when a male student sought to wear an earring in
violation of his school’s anti-gang rule, he claimed the earring conveyed a message of
individuality. Because the court found that no one seeing the earring would comprehend
that message, the court upheld the prohibition. Olesen v. Bd. of Educ. of Sch. Dist. No. 228,
676 F. Supp. 820 (N.D. Ill. 1987) (mem.).
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2.

When is speech not protected by the First Amendment?
Unprotected speech: Schools can prohibit vulgar or offensive speech. They may also
prohibit fighting words, inciting criminal activity, extortion or threats, speech that
promotes illegal drug use, or lewd or indecent speech, as these terms are defined by
law. Schools may consider the age, maturity, and impressionability of other students
who will hear or see the expression. See Chaplinsky v. State of New Hampshire, 315 U.S.
568 (1942) (holding a statute that prohibited addressing another person with offensive
or derisive language did not infringe on First Amendment freedom of expression); Morse
v. Frederick, 551 U.S. 393 (2007) (upholding discipline of a student who displayed a
poster with a pro-drug message at a school event); Bethel Sch. Dist. No. 403 v. Fraser,
478 U.S. 675 (1986) (holding a school acted within its authority in sanctioning a student
for lewd speech during a school assembly).

3.

When can schools prohibit protected expression in student dress and appearance?
A school may prohibit otherwise protected expression if the school has reason to
believe that expression will materially and substantially interfere with the operation of
the school. The U.S. Supreme Court developed the test for material and substantial
interference in schools in a case involving an accessory. The Court determined that
students protesting the Vietnam War by wearing black armbands during the school day
did not cause a material and substantial disruption, and therefore, the high school
violated the students’ First Amendment rights by disciplining the students. Tinker v. Des
Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist., 393 U.S. 503 (1969). Many cases have since helped
define what may be considered material and substantial interference, but the Tinker
analysis remains a strong and protective standard for student rights at school. See B.H.
v. Easton Area Sch. Dist., 725 F.3d 293 (3d Cir. 2013) (holding a school district failed to
show that the “I ‘heart’ boobies” breast cancer bracelets could reasonably be expected
to cause a material and substantial disruption to school operations). But see McAllum v.
Cash, 585 F.3d 214 (5th Cir. 2009) (upholding school ban on the display of the
confederate flag based on a reasonable forecast of substantial disruption in a school
with a history of racial tension).
Case law sets a high standard for proving material and substantial disruption when it applies
to issues involving student dress. Districts should determine whether a particular message
from student dress or appearance could cause a material and substantial disruption.

4.

Can a district have a dress code that prohibits any message on student clothing?
Yes. A school district standardized dress code that prohibits any messages on student
clothing is a permissible content-neutral restriction on student dress. Palmer ex rel.
Palmer v. Waxahachie Indep. Sch. Dist., 579 F.3d 502 (5th Cir. 2009). School districts
may also impose content-neutral dress code requirements on the student population.
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The requirements must not restrict speech based on the district’s disagreement with the
message conveyed by the student’s dress or appearance. Although districts should
enforce the dress code uniformly, districts must also accommodate a student’s sincerely
held religious belief. See A.A. ex rel. Betenbaugh v. Needville Indep. Sch. Dist., 611 F.3d
248 (5th Cir. 2010) (holding a district policy requiring a Native American student to put
long hair in a bun or tuck it in his shirt violated the Texas Religious Freedom and
Restoration Act).
5.

Can schools require uniforms?
Yes. A school district board of trustees may adopt rules requiring students at a school in
the district to wear uniforms if the board determines that a uniform requirement will
improve the learning environment at the school. Tex. Educ. Code § 11.162(a). The rules
must designate a source of funding to provide uniforms for educationally disadvantaged
students. Tex. Educ. Code § 11.162(b).
A parent of a student assigned to attend a school at which students are required to
wear school uniforms may choose for the student to be exempted from the
requirement or to transfer to a school at which students are not required to wear
uniforms and at which space is available by providing a written statement that, as
determined by the board of trustees, states a bona fide religious or philosophical
objection to the requirement. Tex. Educ. Code § 11.162(c).

6.

What constitutes a uniform?
The Texas Education Code does not define a school uniform. Districts should take note
that a dress code that is highly standardized could potentially be considered a uniform.
For example, when Columbia-Brazoria ISD adopted a standardized dress code that
permitted blue, gray, maroon, or white collared shirts and blue, denim, or khaki
“bottoms,” parents argued that the district failed to comply with the Texas Education
Code’s procedure for adopting a school uniform. The school district responded that the
dress code was not a uniform because it permitted so many color combinations. The
commissioner agreed with the district. However, the commissioner cautioned districts
against using a standardized dress code to avoid the statutory requirements for
adopting a uniform policy. Myers v. Columbia-Brazoria Indep. Sch. Dist., Tex. Comm’r of
Educ. Decision No. 008-R8-999 (June 2, 2000).
In 2012, the commissioner reviewed another standardized dress code instituted by
Greenville ISD. The commissioner again found that the dress code was not so
standardized as to constitute a uniform and, therefore, was not subject to state laws
regarding uniforms. According to the commissioner, someone challenging a dress code
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as an unlawful school uniform policy would have to prove that a reasonable observer
would identify students as members of a particular group, based on their distinctive
dress. Parent v. Greenville Indep. Sch. Dist., Tex. Comm’r of Educ. Decision No. 026-R50107 (Apr. 13, 2012).
7.

Can students opt out of a dress code based on a philosophical objection?
No. In 2002, the commissioner of education found that the state law allowing parents to
opt out of a uniform policy did not apply to requests to opt out of a dress code based on
a philosophical objection. Davis v. Alvin Indep. Sch. Dist., Tex. Comm’r of Educ. Decision
No. 009-R8-1000 (Feb. 1, 2002).
Nonetheless, districts must be prepared to accommodate requests for exceptions to
dress code rules based on a student’s or parent’s sincerely held religious belief. For
example, when a school dress code provision restricted students’ ability to wear rosaries
as necklaces, the court found that the students had both a free speech right and free
exercise of religion right to wear the rosaries. Chalifoux v. New Caney Indep. Sch. Dist.,
976 F. Supp. 659 (S.D. Tex. 1997). In another example, a court ordered a school district
to allow students of the Khalsa Sikh faith to wear ceremonial knives to school after the
students successfully argued that a regulation prohibiting the knives placed a substantial
burden on their free exercise of religion. Cheema v. Thompson, 67 F.3d 883 (9th Cir.
1995). For more information about religious accommodations, see the Religion in the
Public Schools section of TASB Legal Service’s School Law eSource.

8.

Can schools restrict hair styles and hats?
Yes, but we recommend that district leadership collaborate thoughtfully with parents
from diverse backgrounds in setting grooming standards.
Districts must accommodate requests for exceptions based on a student’s or parent’s
sincerely held religious belief. See Bd. of Trs. of Bastrop Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Toungate,
958 S.W.2d 365 (Tex. 1997) (holding Texas courts should not become the arbiters of
constitutional challenges to hair length regulations); see also A.A. ex rel. Betenbaugh v.
Needville Indep. Sch. Dist., 611 F.3d 248 (5th Cir. 2010) (holding the requirement that a
Native American student with a sincerely held religious belief put his long hair in a bun
or tuck it in his shirt violated the Texas Religious Freedom and Restoration Act).
Districts should also be aware that regulations of hair length and hair styles may have a
disparate impact on students of a particular race. Several states around the country
have adopted what is known as the Crown Act. State versions of the Crown Act prohibit
discrimination at schools and in the workplace based on hair textures and styles that are
commonly associated with race. On February 6, 2020, members of the Texas Legislative
Black Caucus held a press conference to announce that they are working on a version of
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the Crown Act for the 2021 legislative session. Naomi Andu, After Black Student
Suspended Over Dreadlocks, Some Texas Lawmakers Want to Ban Hair Discrimination,
Texas Tribune (Feb. 6, 2020), texastribune.org/2020/02/06/prewrite-after-blackstudent-suspended-over-dreadlocks-some-texas-lawm/. A federal version of the Crown
Act has also been proposed.
9.

Is a district’s dress code requiring student dress to conform to gender norms illegal
discrimination?
Maybe. In the past, Texas courts have held that school districts have the authority to
adopt dress codes which may apply differently on a gender basis. See, e.g., Bd. of Trs. of
Bastrop Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Toungate, 958 S.W.2d 365 (Tex. 1997) (holding that a district
did not illegally discriminate on the basis of sex by enforcing a regulation of the hair
length of male students). However, more recently, courts outside of Texas have held
that penalizing students for not conforming to a gender-based dress code restriction is
gender discrimination in violation of federal law. See Hayden v. Greensburg Cmty. Sch.
Corp., 743 F.3d 569 (7th Cir. 2014) (holding that the district’s restriction on male
basketball players’ hair lengths violated Title IX) and Peltier v. Charter Day Sch., Inc., 384
F. Supp. 3d 579 (E.D.N.C. 2019) (holding a charter school’s uniform policy that required
females to wear “skirts, skorts, or jumpers” violated the Fourteenth Amendment’s equal
protection clause).
School districts have also addressed issues surrounding gender identity and student dress.
In 2010, a Mississippi court found that a school district violated a lesbian student’s First
Amendment rights by preventing her from attending high school prom with her girlfriend
or wearing anything other than a dress to the prom. Although no court has ruled that
students have a constitutional right to attend prom, the court in this case held that the
district had violated the student’s First Amendment right to freedom of expression. The
court noted that the student had been openly gay since the eighth grade and that she
intended to communicate a message by wearing a tuxedo and to express her identity by
attending prom with a same-sex date. This type of speech, the court found, is exactly the
type of speech that is entitled to the protection of the First Amendment. McMillen v.
Itawamba Cnty. Sch. Dist., 702 F. Supp. 2d 699 (N.D. Miss. 2010).
Furthermore, in 2020 the U.S. Supreme Court held that employers violate Title VII by
discriminating against employees on the basis of sexual orientation or transgender
status. Bostock v. Clayton County, Georgia, 140 S. Ct. 1731 (2020). Although
discrimination against students on the basis of sex is analyzed under Title IX, the Court’s
decision may influence future legal decisions regarding Title IX.
In light of the evolving law, districts may want to consider having a dress code that does
not make distinctions based on gender.
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10.

May a school district enforce a dress code for extracurricular activities?
Yes. Some districts may have an extracurricular code of conduct that addresses the issue
of dress and grooming during extracurricular activities. The extracurricular code of
conduct is created and adopted by the administration, after the board passes a policy to
authorize its creation. If the district does not have an extracurricular code of conduct,
generally the principal, in cooperation with the sponsor, coach, or other person in
charge of an extracurricular activity, may regulate the dress and grooming of students
who are participating in an extracurricular activity.

11.

Can a student wear political buttons, t-shirts, etc. to school?
Yes, if they are otherwise appropriate and conforming to the dress code. Some schools
may have dress codes that restrict any messaging on t-shirts. Such a rule does not
discriminate against a viewpoint and is content-neutral. However, if a school allows
messaging on shirts or pins, they may not restrict the content of the expression unless it
is unprotected expression (see questions 1 and 2 above).

12.

Where can I find more information about my district’s dress code and rules?
See TASB Policy FNCA for more information about dress codes. Many districts also
include information in the student handbook and student code of conduct regarding
expectations for students to meet district and campus standards of grooming and dress.
For more information about accommodating student’s religious beliefs, see TASB Legal
Service’s Religion in the Public Schools resources available on eSource.

This document is continually updated, and references to online resources are hyperlinked, at
tasb.org/Services/Legal-Services/TASB-School-LaweSource/Students/documents/student_dress_and_appearance.pdf. For more information on this and
other school law topics, visit TASB School Law eSource at schoollawesource.tasb.org.
This document is provided for educational purposes only and contains information to facilitate a general understanding
of the law. It is not an exhaustive treatment of the law on this subject nor is it intended to substitute for the advice of an
attorney. Consult with your own attorneys to apply these legal principles to specific fact situations.
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